Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment (January 2017 version) Stream Channels

Vulnerability Assessment Summary

Overall Vulnerability Score and Components:

Vulnerability Component	Score
Sensitivity	High
Exposure	High
Adaptive Capacity	Low-moderate
Vulnerability	High

Overall vulnerability of stream channels was scored as high. The score is the result of high sensitivity, high future exposure, and low-moderate adaptive capacity scores.

Key climate factors for stream channels include altered streamflow regimes, warming water temperatures, increased storms, changes to the amount and timing of precipitation, and earlier snowmelt and runoff. For example, precipitation changes affect streamflow volume and velocity, which can subsequently affect channel topography and substrate. Reduced snowpack and earlier and faster snowmelt could lead to decreases in mean annual flow and warmer stream temperatures especially during the summer months.

Key non-climate factors for stream channel habitats include dams, levees, and water diversions, groundwater overdraft, land use change, and agricultural and rangeland practices. These non-climate factors will likely interact with climate factors and disturbances, potentially resulting in streambed degradation and reduced aquatic habitat quality and biota.

Streams are sensitive to changes in disturbance regimes such as wildfire, flooding, and changes to sedimentation. More frequent and severe fires may burn more streamside vegetation and lead to warmer stream temperatures and change the pH of aquatic systems. Increased frequency and magnitude of floods could also result in stream bank scouring and the removal of riparian vegetation. Increased sediment delivery following a flood can affect concentrations of contaminants and potentially the abundance of disease-bearing organisms in streams.

Management potential for stream channel habitats was scored as moderate. The Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers are unique in regards to the continuity of stream habitats, which has

large implications for the structural and functional integrity of streams. Instream flows for channel maintenance and habitat creation are dependent on sufficient magnitude and duration of winter and spring flows. Flood control and water storage projects on both rivers have promoted urban and agricultural development and have led to stream channelization. Dams, levees, and water diversions can make streams homogenous with negative impacts to connectivity for biodiversity. Flow regulation has reduced the natural spatial and temporal variability of floods, thereby impeding sediment movement. These structures also break up the connectivity of stream systems and prevent some species from migrating. However, there is significant management potential for conserving habitat and restoring stream processes and functions.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Table of Contents

Introduction	5
Description of Priority Natural Resource	5
Vulnerability Assessment Methodology	5
Vulnerability Assessment Details	6
Climate Factors	6
Streamflow	6
Water temperature	7
Storms	7
Precipitation (amount)	7
Precipitation (timing)	8
Timing of snowmelt & runoff	8
Drought	8
Non-Climate Factors	9
Dams, levees, & water diversions	9
Groundwater overdraft	9
Land use change	10
Agriculture and rangeland practices	10
Urban/suburban development	11
Disturbance Regimes	11
Flooding	11
Wildfire	12
Disease	12
Sedimentation	12
Adaptive Capacity	13
Extent, integrity, and continuity	13
Landscape permeability	13
Resistance and recovery	14
Habitat diversity	14
Other Factors	15
Management notantial	15

Value to people	16
Support for conservation	16
Likelihood of converting land to habitat	16
Literature Cited	18

Introduction

Description of Priority Natural Resource

Streams and rivers support a wide range of social, cultural, and ecological values, including plant and wildlife diversity, water quality, water quantity, cultural values, aesthetic values, agricultural and urban uses, fishing, and tourism (Hunsaker et al. 2014a).

As part of the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project, workshop participants identified stream channels as a Priority Natural Resource for the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project in a process that involved two steps: 1) gathering information about the habitat's management importance as indicated by its priority in existing conservation plans and lists, and 2) a workshop with stakeholders to identify the final list of Priority Natural Resources, which includes habitats, species groups, and species.

The rationale for choosing stream channels as a Priority Natural Resource included the following: the habitat has high management importance, and because the habitat is important for fish and fish passage. Please see Appendix A: "Priority Natural Resource Selection Methodology" for more information.

Vulnerability Assessment Methodology

During a two-day workshop in October of 2015, 30 experts representing 16 Central Valley resource management organizations assessed the vulnerability of priority natural resources to changes in climate and non-climate factors, and identified the likely resulting pressures, stresses, and benefits (see Appendix B: "Glossary" for terms used in this report). The expert opinions provided by these participants are referenced throughout this document with an endnote indicating its source¹. To the extent possible, scientific literature was sought out to support expert opinion garnered at the workshop. Literature searches were conducted for factors and resulting pressures that were rated as high or moderate-high, and all pressures, stresses, and benefits identified in the workshop are included in this report. For more information about the vulnerability assessment methodology, please see Appendix C: "Vulnerability Assessment Methods and Application." Projections of climate and non-climate change for the region were researched and are summarized in Appendix D: "Overview of Projected Future Changes in the California Central Valley".

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Vulnerability Assessment Details

Climate Factors

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to climate factors and this score was used to calculate overall sensitivity. Future exposure to climate factors was scored and the overall exposure score used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Climate Factor	Sensitivity	Future Exposure
Altered stream flow	High	High
Extreme events: drought	1	High
Extreme events: storms	High	-
Increased flooding	-	High
Increased wildfire	-	Moderate
Precipitation (amount)	Moderate-high	High
Precipitation (timing)	Moderate-high	High
Timing of snowmelt/runoff	Moderate-high	High
Water temperature	High	High
Overall Scores	High	High

Streamflow

Sensitivity: High (high confidence) **Future exposure:** High (high confidence)

Extremely dry periods may occur more frequently over the next century, especially in the San Joaquin Valley (Null et al. 2013). Streamflow will likely be impacted by reduced snowpack and more rapid snowmelt runoff, which could manifest in decreases in mean annual flow, especially during the summer months (Knowles & Cayan 2002; Miller et al. 2003; Medellín-Azuara et al. 2007; Vicuna et al. 2008). Total annual water year runoff has increased for the Sacramento River basins and decreased for the San Joaquin River basins, but both areas experienced decreases in spring runoff (April-July), which declined by 9% for the Sacramento River basins and declined by 7% for the San Joaquin River basins in the 20th century; these trends may continue through 2050 (Hunsaker et al. 2014b). Stream discharge is also projected to increase by 30–90% for the Northern Sierra Nevada and 50–100% for Southern Sierra by end of century (Das et al. 2013).

Stream channels are highly sensitive to changes in flow regimes, which drive sediment transport, channel migration, floodplain access or accretion, the development of riparian zones,

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

and instream bedload quality (Poff et al. 1997; Stromberg et al. 2007; Perry et al. 2012; Wohl et al. 2015). Changes in precipitation impact flow volume and velocity (Meyers et al. 2010), which influences channel topography and substrate (Yarnell et al. 2010) and impacts stream habitat for invertebrates, fish, amphibians, and reptiles (Meyers et al. 2010). Drier conditions could cause some streams to transition from perennial to intermittent or even to ephemeral channels, drastically reducing habitat suitability for species that are dependent on streamflow (Myrick & Cech 2004). Adequate flow volume is important for stream channel connectivity, allowing sediments and biological material to move downstream (Yarnell et al. 2015). Streamflow can be a surrogate for water quality conditions if it is protected from heating/pollutants¹.

Water temperature

Sensitivity: High (high confidence) **Future exposure:** High (high confidence)

Streams on the west slopes of the Sierra Nevada at middle elevations are extremely sensitive to warming temperatures (Null et al. 2013), and water temperatures may increase by 1.6°C for each 2°C rise in air temperature, with most of the warming occurring during the spring months (Null et al. 2013). Reduced snowpack and earlier timing of peak flows may affect stream temperatures by reducing flow volume (Yarnell et al. 2010).

Stream temperatures have a direct influence on dissolved oxygen levels, nutrient cycling, productivity, and the metabolic rates and life histories of aquatic organisms (Vannote & Sweeney 1980; Poole & Berman 2001). Warmer water temperatures also affect the distribution and abundance of organisms, leading to local extinctions for species with low thermal thresholds (e.g., salmonids), and potentially facilitating the introduction of invasive species (Eaton & Scheller 1996; Moyle 2002; Hari et al. 2006; Rahel & Olden 2008).

Storms

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

More intense winter rainstorms could result in more flooding (Vivoni et al. 2009).

Stream channels are sensitive to extreme precipitation events that occur within Central Valley, as well as those that occur at high elevations at higher points of the watershed. In semiarid and arid areas, where most recharge occurs through dry streambeds after heavy rainfalls and floods, increased extreme precipitation events could increase groundwater recharge (Karl et al. 2009).

Precipitation (amount)

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Future exposure: High (high confidence)

Although precipitation models for California are highly uncertain, some projections suggest that annual precipitation will remain quite variable over the next century, and may increase slightly in the Sacramento River Basin and decrease slightly in the San Joaquin River Basin by 2050

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

(Bureau of Reclamation 2015), and precipitation extremes may increase (Toreti et al. 2013). There has been a slight trend towards decreased and more variable precipitation in central and southern California over the last 100 years (Hunsaker et al. 2014a).

The frequency, magnitude, and nature of precipitation events directly affect stream hydrology and geomorphology by altering streamflow and potentially causing floods and associated scouring (Meyers et al. 2010; Null et al. 2013). Increased precipitation amounts, especially in the form of rain instead of snow, could lead to substantial changes in stream morphology, channel location, sediment movement, and bank stability (Yarnell et al. 2010; Null et al. 2013).

Precipitation (timing)

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Future exposure: High (high confidence)

Increased intensity and frequency of winter rainfall would be likely to result in "quick pulses" in streamflow and more scouring of stream substrate (Yarnell et al. 2010). Increased rain-on-snow events may translate into high winter flows and more flashy hydrographs (Hamlet & Lettenmaier 2007).

Timing of snowmelt & runoff

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Future exposure: High (high confidence)

Warmer temperatures and reduced snowpack may contribute to earlier snowmelt and timing of peak spring runoff, which may decrease the magnitude of streamflow at the start of the snowmelt recession (Yarnell et al. 2010). This would likely shorten the duration of cold water within the system and contribute to a longer period of low summer flow, which could shift the species composition of amphibians and fish and potentially facilitate an increase in invasive species (Marchetti & Moyle 2001).

Although earlier snowmelt may lead to higher peak flows in many cases, drastically reduced snowpack may ultimately lower the magnitude of spring flows.

Drought

Future exposure: High (high confidence)

Over the coming century, the frequency and severity of drought is expected to increase due to climate change (Hayhoe et al. 2004; Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015; Williams et al. 2015), as warming temperatures exacerbate dry conditions in years with low precipitation, causing more severe droughts than have previously been observed (Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015). Regardless of changes in precipitation, warmer temperatures are expected to increase evapotranspiration and cause drier conditions (Cook et al. 2015). Recent studies have found that anthropogenic warming has substantially increased the overall likelihood of extreme California droughts, including decadal and multi-decadal events (Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015; Williams et al. 2015).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Non-Climate Factors

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity and current exposure to non-climate factors, and these scores were then used to assess their impact on climate change sensitivity.

Non-Climate Factor	Sensitivity	Current Exposure
Agriculture & rangeland practices	Moderate-high	High
Dams, levees, & water diversions	High	High
Groundwater overdraft	High	High
Land use change	High	High
Urban/suburban development	Moderate	High
Overall Scores	High	High

Dams, levees, & water diversions

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

Current exposure: High (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape.

Dams, levees and water diversions for agriculture and other human uses directly impact streamflow by limiting flow variability and creating a deficit or surplus sediment, which creates more homogenous river morphology and negatively impacts biodiversity (Moyle & Mount 2007; Wohl et al. 2015). For instance, upstream sediment supply is often trapped behind dams in regulated rivers, creating sediment deficits downstream (Yarnell et al. 2015). Water releases that do not contain enough sediment may cause extreme stream scour and bed degradation during downstream flooding (Grams et al. 2007). By contrast, sediment may over-accumulate in some regulated rivers that have large sediment inputs from unregulated tributaries, or where flow is not strong enough to flush sediment because of diversions (Yarnell et al. 2015). Nevertheless, it is generally agreed that floods of short duration are insufficient to transport large volumes of residual sediment downstream (Yarnell et al. 2015), and the overall impact of dams, levees, and water diversions on stream channels is likely to limit geomorphic diversity and the maintenance of associated instream channel habitats¹.

Groundwater overdraft

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

Current exposure: High (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Large-scale groundwater extraction may cause adverse environmental impacts on stream systems because of the close linkages between groundwater and biogeochemical cycles and ecological processes (Loáiciga 2002, 2003). For instance, groundwater overdraft can lead to declines in surface-water levels, decreased recharge of aquifers, declines in streamflow, and changes in riparian vegetation (Zektser et al. 2004). Where groundwater is withdrawn from deep aquifers unconnected with surface water, streams may still be indirectly impacted by land subsidence¹. Changes in precipitation and increased drought may increase groundwater overdraft due to increased water demands and decreased aquifer recharge, compounding the negative impacts on stream channels.

Land use change

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

Current exposure: High (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape, although there may be greater

threat from crop conversion in the foothills where more precipitation falls.

The population of California is expected to increase by 19–30% by the year 2025 (Public Policy Institute of California 2006), which will likely lead to a substantial increase in the demand for water for both agriculture and urban area use (Duffy & Kahara 2011).

Land use change, especially crop conversion, impact streams directly when crops go right up to the stream edge¹; however, they may also increase the runoff of nutrients and pesticides, water diversions for irrigation, and the introduction of alien species (Duffy & Kahara 2011).

Agriculture and rangeland practices

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Current exposure: High (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Localized, concentrated around current development.

The Central Valley is dominated by agricultural development, which has been possible due to a massive water distribution system that transfers water from the north to arid central and southern parts of the state (Duffy & Kahara 2011). Nearly 93% of all water used in the region is for agricultural production, and changes in how this water is managed would likely decrease streamflow (Perry et al. 2012). For instance, earlier and/or larger irrigation water withdrawals could substantially reduce late spring and summer flows (Eheart & Tornil 1999), compounding climate-projected reductions in streamflow and causing further stress to plants and animals (Perry et al. 2012). Drought, wildfire, and extreme precipitation events can also interact with agricultural and rangeland practices to exacerbate impacts on stream channel habitats¹.

Rangeland grazing practices have direct and indirect effects on stream ecosystems (Ohmart 1996). Livestock favor riparian areas because they have productive herbaceous species, as well as water and shade; heavy grazing in riparian areas can lead to soil compaction, bank erosion, deterioration of vegetative cover, destabilization of channel banks, and an increase in streamflow sediment concentrations (Lusby et al. 1971; Kauffman & Krueger 1984; Ohmart 1996; Scott et al. 2003).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Urban/suburban development

Sensitivity: Moderate (high confidence) **Current exposure:** High (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Consistent across the landscape.

Urban/suburban development is likely to exacerbate the impacts of climate change on stream channels, contributing to warmer water temperatures, altered flooding regimes, and heavy erosion and/or sedimentation (Nelson & Palmer 2007; Nelson et al. 2009). Development significantly changes the timing, quality, and volume of runoff in watersheds where urban areas are located (Nelson et al. 2009). Development is also associated with removal of riparian vegetation, channel modification, and increased pollution (Griggs 2009).

Disturbance Regimes

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to disturbance regimes, and these scores were used to calculate climate change sensitivity.

Overall sensitivity to disturbance regimes: High (high confidence)

Flooding

Future exposure: High (high confidence)

Floods are projected to become more frequent and severe, and to potentially occur over a longer season (Dettinger 2011).

Major floods can result in stream bank scouring and the removal of riparian vegetation, thereby affecting stream temperature and sediment loads (Stromberg et al. 1993). Increased sediment delivery following a flood can affect stream channel stability (Perry et al. 2012), and can also increase concentrations of contaminants and potentially the abundance of disease-causing organisms in streams (Grimm et al. 2013), which can have serious impacts on ecosystems, organisms, and drinking water facilities (Semenza et al. 2012).

Many woody riparian plant species require periods of high flows for seed dispersal, and reduced flooding or changes in the timing of floods may limit recruitment success and riparian habitat extent (Rood et al. 2005; Stella et al. 2006), ultimately impacting vegetation diversity and abundance, as well as riparian arthropod and aquatic macroinvertebrate communities (Yarnell et al. 2010). These changes in the riparian and aquatic communities caused by changes in the flooding regime could have cascading impacts to the adjacent terrestrial ecosystem (Nakano et al. 1999).

Wildfire

Future exposure: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Large fire occurrence and total area burned in California are projected to continue increasing over the next century with total area burned projected to increase by up to 74% by 2085 (Westerling et al. 2011).

Riparian areas often have high stem densities, biomass, and fuel loads (Van de Water & North 2011) and these characteristics can predispose them to high-severity fire (Olson & Agee 2005). Fires that occur during extreme weather conditions (e.g., hot, dry wind storms) can be particularly severe (Van de Water & North 2011), and can cause substantial channel erosion and/or sedimentation, altering patterns of substrate distribution (Segura & Snook 1992; Skinner & Chang 1996; Camp et al. 1997; Olson & Agee 2005) and inputs of sediment and large woody debris (Miller et al. 2003; Barnett et al. 2008). Changes in wildfire regimes, such as more frequent and severe fires, may also lead to warmer stream temperatures by reducing the shade from woody vegetation, and can change the pH of aquatic systems (Dwire & Kauffman 2003; Pettit & Naiman 2007).

Disease

Warmer stream temperatures may magnify the distribution and virulence of disease organisms and parasites, increasing negative impact on fish and wildlife species, especially salmonids (Rahel & Olden 2008; Null et al. 2013). For some organisms, the combination of warm temperatures, low streamflow, and disease could cause mortality. For example, this combination of factors caused a substantial die-off of approximately 35,000 salmon in the Klamath River during 2002 (Fedor 2003). Mortality events such as these may be related to reduced disease resistance in organisms under climate-induced stress (Heino et al. 2009). Warmer stream temperatures may also affect aquatic parasites, directly altering their life cycles and transmission as well as host susceptibility (Marcogliese 2001, 2008).

Sedimentation

Streams are a product, in part, of historical disturbance regimes and physical processes (Lytle & Poff 2004; Perry et al. 2012). Changes to the rate and pattern of sediment flux will substantially affect stream hydrology and geomorphology (Naiman et al. 2008; Beechie et al. 2010). For example, higher spring peak flows could increase the amount of sediment movement and potentially flush the stream channel of fine sediments (Poff et al. 1997). Large surges in streamflow could also lead to large amounts of erosion and further sediment transfer (Perry et al. 2012). A "flashy" spring hydrograph may lead to a system dominated by two flow stages (i.e., flood stage and low-flow stage) rather than multiple stages, thereby affecting the distribution of sediments and resulting in a stream with greater habitat homogeneity and less overall biodiversity (Yarnell et al. 2010).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Adaptive Capacity

Workshop participants scored the resource's adaptive capacity and the overall score was used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Adaptive Capacity Component	Score
Extent, Integrity, & Continuity	Moderate
Landscape Permeability	Low-moderate
Resistance & Recovery	Low-moderate
Habitat Diversity	Low-moderate
Overall Score	Low-moderate

Extent, integrity, and continuity

Overall degree of habitat extent, integrity, and continuity: Moderate (high confidence)

Geographic extent of habitat: Transcontinental (high confidence)

Structural and functional integrity of habitat: Altered but not degraded (high

confidence)

Continuity of habitat:

Sacramento River: Continuous (high confidence)

Tulare River: Isolated and/or quite fragmented (high confidence) **San Joaquin River:** Isolated and/or quite fragmented (high confidence)

Stream channels in the Central Valley have been fragmented and heavily modified, especially in the southern regions (e.g., San Joaquin Valley). Surface and groundwater withdrawals can impact the extent of stream habitat, and this may be exacerbated by future drought conditions and increased water demand (Famiglietti et al. 2011).

Landscape permeability

Overall landscape permeability: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Impact of various factors on landscape permeability:

Dams, levees, & water diversions: High (high confidence)

Riprap: High (high confidence)

Urban/suburban development: High (high confidence)

Roads, highways, & trails: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Agricultural & rangeland practices: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Energy production & mining: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Dams, levees, and water diversions disconnect stream reaches and prevent some species from migrating, resulting in more homogeneous habitat and lower biodiversity (Graf 2006; Moyle &

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Mount 2007; Wohl et al. 2015). Roads, highways, and trails also reduce stream connectivity, as culverts associated with stream crossings often impede flow, sediment transport, and the movement of wildlife (Trombulak & Frissell 2000). Agricultural and rangeland practices alter the ability of stream channels to migrate, while gravel mining directly impacts stream channels by removing the substrate¹.

Resistance and recovery

Overall ability to resist and recover from stresses: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Resistance to stresses/maladaptive human responses: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Ability to recover from stresses/maladaptive human response impacts: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Streams connected to deep aquifers may be more resistant to drought and extreme temperatures (Goforth 2009). However, direct channel modifications, as well as indirect factors that cause channel incision and/or widening, reduce the ability of stream channels to respond to changing conditions or extreme events by adjusting their shape or migrating (Hawley et al. 2012; Phillips & Jerolmack 2016). The San Joaquin River is less resistant to the impacts of climate change than the Sacramento River¹.

Habitat diversity

Overall habitat diversity: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Physical and topographical diversity of the habitat: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Diversity of component species within the habitat: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Diversity of functional groups within the habitat: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Component species or functional groups particularly sensitive to climate change:

- Salmonids (*Oncorhynchus* spp.)
- Pacific lamprey (Entosphenus tridentatus)
- Sturgeon (*Acipenser* spp.)

Keystone or foundational species within the habitat:

- Salmon
- Lamprey

Heterogeneous stream and riparian habitats are associated with high levels of biodiversity, especially invertebrate diversity and abundance, which serve as an important food source for other organisms (Perry et al. 2012). Altered patterns of sediment transport and organic matter buildup in stream channels can decrease substrate heterogeneity, and sometimes leads to vegetation encroachment (Perry et al. 2012). High flows increase the structural diversity of

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

stream channels by removing accumulated sediment and flushing organic matter from the channel substrate (Yarnell et al. 2015). System dominated by non-native species may have reduced functional capacity, and maintaining diverse native species within stream habitats is important for stream channel processes¹.

Other Factors

Overall degree to which other factors affect habitat adaptive capacity: High (high confidence)

Flood operations
Politics and demographics
Agricultural markets

Flood operations

Flow regulation has reduced the natural spatial and temporal variability of floods, thereby impeding sediment movement, creating more homogenous habitat structure (Yarnell et al. 2015). By contrast, large dam releases to control flooding could result in extreme scouring and streambed degradation (Grams et al. 2007). Flood operations may also reduce flow variability, which drives many stream ecosystem processes (Naiman et al. 2008) and the interactions among habitat structure, physical processes, and ecological patterns (Fremier & Strickler 2010; Wohl 2012).

Agricultural markets

The impacts of climate change are likely to decrease the production of some agricultural products and contribute to reduced supply and increased demand for water, affecting the supply of water for irrigation (OEHHA 2013). Higher-revenue crops are grown on more productive soil, and changes in market prices, urbanization, and weather can cause economic losses (Jackson et al. 2012). Seasons when commodity prices are low may cause changes in the crops planted as farmers shift towards crops that are more economically viable (California Rice Commission 2013).

Management potential

Workshop participants scored the resource's management potential.

Management Potential Component	Score
Habitat value	Moderate-high
Societal support	Moderate
Agriculture & rangeland practices	Moderate-high
Extreme events	Moderate-high
Converting retired land	Low

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Managing climate change impacts	Low-moderate
Overall Score	Moderate

Value to people

Value of habitat to people: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Description of value: Fishing, primary water supply for urban use (although it is unclear whether the public fully understands this). The general public understands the value of this habitat, but does not understand the connections between human activities and habitat degradation.

Support for conservation

Degree of societal support for managing and conserving habitat: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Description of support: Highly regulated for water supply. There are increasing groundwater regulations and bonds. Although there are habitat management regulations, conserving habitat is not seen as equally important.

Degree to which agriculture and/or rangelands can benefit/support/increase the resilience of this habitat: Moderate-high (high confidence)

Description of support: Setback levees and other best management practices can help, but it is still difficult to deal with landowners.

Degree to which extreme events (e.g., flooding, drought) influence societal support for taking action: High (high confidence)

Description of events: Extreme events could have positive or negative impact on societal support.

Likelihood of converting land to habitat

Likelihood of (or support for) converting retired agriculture land to habitat: Low (high confidence)

Description of likelihood: May be possible for San Joaquin River, which is disconnected.

Likelihood of managing or alleviating climate change impacts on habitat: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Description of likelihood: May be possible if groundwater storage increases.

Although substantial portions of both the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers are degraded, there is significant management potential for conserving habitat and restoring stream processes and functions (Huber et al. 2012). However, considerable effort and resources will be needed to achieve greater river functionality, especially within some of the highly modified sections. Management tactics that are targeted towards process-based restoration (i.e., restoring floods) will require connections between hydrologic and geomorphic dynamics (Beechie et al. 2010; Wohl et al. 2015). Physical habitat restoration, sediment transport, and

flow regimes should be considered together in order to achieve greater floodplain benefits (Yarnell et al. 2015). Although expensive to implement over a large area, coarse sediment can be added to rivers to promote sediment transport and redistribution of bed material, increasing instream habitat diversity (e.g., Gaeuman 2014). Along reaches that might still receive high flows from unregulated tributaries, measures such as levee breaching could enhance floodplain connectivity (Florsheim & Mount 2002). Finally, efforts to de-armor bends and reconnect abandoned channels isolated by land conversion could increase opportunities for rivers to meander and create new surfaces for pioneer forest establishment (Perry et al. 2012).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Stream Channels

Literature Cited

- Barnett TP et al. 2008. Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the western United States. Science **319**:1080–1083.
- Beechie TJ, Sear DA, Olden JD, Pess GR, Buffington JM, Moir H, Roni P, Pollock MM. 2010. Process-based principles for restoring river ecosystems. BioScience **60**:209–222.
- Bureau of Reclamation. 2015. Sacramento and San Joaquin Basins study, report to Congress 2015. U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Mid Pacific Region. Prepared by CH2M Hill. Available from http://www.usbr.gov/watersmart/bsp/.
- California Rice Commission. 2013. Rice-specific groundwater assessment report. Prepared for Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board. California Rice Commission.
- Camp A, Oliver C, Hessburg P, Everett R. 1997. Predicting late-successional fire refugia pre-dating European settlement in the Wenatchee Mountains. Forest Ecology and Management **95**:63–77.
- Cook BI, Ault TR, Smerdon JE. 2015. Unprecedented 21st century drought risk in the American Southwest and Central Plains. Science Advances 1:e1400082.
- Das T, Maurer EP, Pierce DW, Dettinger MD, Cayan DR. 2013. Increases in flood magnitudes in California under warming climates. Journal of Hydrology **501**:101–110.
- Dettinger M. 2011. Climate change, atmospheric rivers, and floods in California a multimodel analysis of storm frequency and magnitude changes. Journal of the American Water Resources Association **47**:514–523.
- Diffenbaugh NS, Swain DL, Touma D. 2015. Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **112**:3931–3936.
- Duffy WG, Kahara SN. 2011. Wetland ecosystem services in California's Central Valley and implications for the Wetland Reserve Program. Ecological Applications **21**:S18–S30.
- Dwire KA, Kauffman JB. 2003. Fire and riparian ecosystems in landscapes of the western USA. Forest Ecology and Management **178**:61–74.
- Eaton JG, Scheller RM. 1996. Effects of climate warming on fish thermal habitat in streams of the United States. Limnology and Oceanography **41**:1109–1115.
- Eheart JW, Tornil DW. 1999. Low-flow frequency exacerbation by irrigation withdrawals in the agricultural Midwest under various climate change scenarios. Pages 1–6 in E. M. Wilson, editor. WRPMD'99: preparing for the 21st century. American Society of Civil Engineers, Tempe, AZ. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.1061/40430(1999)252 (accessed May 2, 2016).
- Famiglietti JS, Lo M, Ho SL, Bethune J, Anderson KJ, Syed TH, Swenson SC, de Linage CR, Rodell M. 2011. Satellites measure recent rates of groundwater depletion in California's Central Valley. Geophysical Research Letters **38**:L03403.
- Fedor P. 2003. Klamath Basin chinook salmon in crisis: factors of decline. Available from https://watershed.ucdavis.edu/scott_river/docs/reports/Preston_Fedor.pdf (accessed May 2, 2016).
- Florsheim JL, Mount JF. 2002. Restoration of floodplain topography by sand-splay complex formation in response to intentional levee breaches, Lower Cosumnes River, California. Geomorphology **44**:67–94.
- Fremier AK, Strickler KM, editors. 2010. Topics in bioscience: river structure and function. American Institute of Biological Sciences.
- Gaeuman D. 2014. High-flow gravel injection for constructing designed in-channel features. River Research and Applications **30**:685–706.
- Goforth BR. 2009. Effects of extreme drought and megafires on sky island conifer forests of the Peninsular Ranges, southern California. Available from http://escholarship.org/uc/item/3r83g614.

- Graf WL. 2006. Downstream hydrologic and geomorphic effects of large dams on American rivers. Geomorphology **79**:336–360.
- Grams PE, Schmidt JC, Topping DJ. 2007. The rate and pattern of bed incision and bank adjustment on the Colorado River in Glen Canyon downstream from Glen Canyon Dam, 1956-2000. Geological Society of America Bulletin **119**:20.
- Griggs FT. 2009. California riparian habitat restoration handbook, second edition. Page 83. California Riparian Habitat Joint Venture, Chico, CA.
- Grimm NB et al. 2013. The impacts of climate change on ecosystem structure and function. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment **11**:474–482.
- Hamlet AF, Lettenmaier DP. 2007. Effects of 20th century warming and climate variability on flood risk in the western U.S. Water Resources Research **43**:W06427.
- Hari RE, Livingstone DM, Siber R, Burkhardt-Holm P, Güttinger H. 2006. Consequences of climatic change for water temperature and brown trout populations in Alpine rivers and streams. Global Change Biology **12**:10–26.
- Hawley RJ, Bledsoe BP, Stein ED, Haines BE. 2012. Channel evolution model of semiarid stream response to urban-induced hydromodification. Journal of the American Water Resources Association **48**:722–744.
- Hayhoe K et al. 2004. Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **101**:12422–12427.
- Heino J, Virkkala R, Toivonen H. 2009. Climate change and freshwater biodiversity: detected patterns, future trends and adaptations in northern regions. Biological Reviews **84**:39–54.
- Huber PR, Shilling F, Thorne JH, Greco SE. 2012. Municipal and regional habitat connectivity planning. Landscape and Urban Planning **105**:15–26.
- Hunsaker CT, Long JW, Herbst DB, Long JW, Quinn-Davidson L, Skinner CN. 2014a. Watershed and stream ecosystems. Pages 265–322. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA. Available from http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/psw_gtr247/.
- Hunsaker CT, Long JW, Herbst DB, Long JW, Quinn-Davidson L, Skinner CN. 2014b. Watershed and stream ecosystems. Pages 265–322. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA. Available from http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/psw_gtr247/.
- Jackson L, Haden VR, Wheeler SM, Hollander AD, Perlman J, O'Geen T, Mehta VK, Clark V, Wiliams J, Thrupp A. 2012. Vulnerability and adaptation to climate change in California agriculture. CEC-500-2012-031. Prepared by the University of California, Davis. California Energy Commission.
- Karl TR, Melillo JM, Peterson TC, editors. 2009. Global climate change impacts in the United States. Cambridge University Press. Available from www.globalchange.gov/usimpacts.
- Kauffman JB, Krueger WC. 1984. Livestock impacts on riparian ecosystems and streamside management implications: a review. Journal of Range Management **37**:430–438.
- Knowles N, Cayan DR. 2002. Potential effects of global warming on the Sacramento/San Joaquin watershed and the San Francisco estuary. Geophysical Research Letters **29**:1891.
- Loáiciga H. 2002. Sustainable ground-water exploitation. International Geology Review 44:1115–1121.
- Loáiciga HA. 2003. Groundwater mining. Pages 245–349 in B. A. Stewart and T. A. Howell, editors. Encyclopedia of Water Sciences. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, NY.
- Lusby GC, Reid VH, Knipe OD. 1971. Effects of grazing on the hydrology and biology of the Badger Wash Basin in western Colorado, 1953-66. USGS Numbered Series 1532–D, Water Supply Paper. U.S. Geological Survey. Available from http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/wsp1532D (accessed May 2, 2016).
- Lytle DA, Poff NL. 2004. Adaptation to natural flow regimes. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 19:94–100.

- Marchetti MP, Moyle PB. 2001. Effects of flow regime on fish assemblages in a regulated California stream. Ecological Applications **11**:530–539.
- Marcogliese DJ. 2001. Implications of climate change for parasitism of animals in the aquatic environment. Canadian Journal of Zoology **79**:1331–1352.
- Marcogliese DJ. 2008. The impact of climate change on the parasites and infectious diseases of aquatic animals. Revue Scientifique et Technique **27**:467–484.
- Medellín-Azuara J, Harou JJ, Olivares MA, Madani K, Lund JR, Howitt RE, Tanaka SK, Jenkins MW, Zhu T. 2007. Adaptability and adaptations of California's water supply system to dry climate warming. Climatic Change **87**:75–90.
- Meyers EM, Dobrowski B, Tague CL. 2010. Climate change impacts on flood frequency, intensity, and timing may affect trout species in Sagehen Creek, California. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society **139**:1657–1664.
- Miller NL, Bashford KE, Strem E. 2003. Potential impacts of climate change on California hydrology. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association **39**:771–784.
- Moyle PB. 2002. Inland fishes of California. University of California Press.
- Moyle PB, Mount JF. 2007. Homogenous rivers, homogenous faunas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **104**:5711–5712.
- Myrick CA, Cech JJ. 2004. Temperature effects on juvenile anadromous salmonids in California's Central Valley: what don't we know? Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries **14**:113–123.
- Naiman RJ, Latterell JJ, Pettit NE, Olden JD. 2008. Flow variability and the biophysical vitality of river systems. Comptes Rendus Geoscience **340**:629–643.
- Nakano S, Miyasaka H, Kuhara N. 1999. Terrestrial—aquatic linkages: riparian arthropod inputs alter trophic cascades in a stream food web. Ecology **80**:2435—2441.
- Nelson KC, Palmer MA. 2007. Stream temperature surges under urbanization and climate change: data, models, and responses. Journal of the American Water Resources Association **43**:440–452.
- Nelson KC, Palmer MA, Pizzuto JE, Moglen GE, Angermeier PL, Hilderbrand RH, Dettinger M, Hayhoe K. 2009. Forecasting the combined effects of urbanization and climate change on stream ecosystems: from impacts to management options. Journal of Applied Ecology **46**:154–163.
- Null SE, Viers JH, Deas ML, Tanaka SK, Mount JF. 2013. Stream temperature sensitivity to climate warming in California's Sierra Nevada: impacts to coldwater habitat. Climatic Change **116**:149–170.
- OEHHA. 2013. Indicators of climate change in California. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency, Sacramento, CA. Available from http://www.oehha.ca.gov/multimedia/epic/2013EnvIndicatorReport.html.
- Ohmart RD. 1996. Historical and present impacts of livestock grazing on fish and wildlife resources in western riparian habitats. Pages 245–279 in P. R. Krauseman, editor. Rangeland wildlife. Society of Rangeland Wildlife Managment, Denver, CO.
- Olson DL, Agee JK. 2005. Historical fires in Douglas-fir dominated riparian forests of the southern Cascades, Oregon. Fire Ecology 1:50–74.
- Perry LG, Andersen DC, Reynolds LV, Nelson SM, Shafroth PB. 2012. Vulnerability of riparian ecosystems to elevated CO₂ and climate change in arid and semiarid western North America. Global Change Biology 18:821−842.
- Pettit NE, Naiman RJ. 2007. Fire in the riparian zone: characteristics and ecological consequences. Ecosystems **10**:673–687.
- Phillips CB, Jerolmack DJ. 2016. Self-organization of river channels as a critical filter on climate signals. Science **352**:694–697.
- Poff NL, Allan JD, Bain MB, Karr JR, Prestegaard KL, Richter BD, Sparks RE, Stromberg JC. 1997. The natural flow regime. BioScience **47**:769–784.

- Poole GC, Berman CH. 2001. An ecological perspective on in-stream temperature: natural heat dynamics and mechanisms of human-caused thermal degradation. Environmental Management **27**:787–802.
- Public Policy Institute of California. 2006. California's future population. Public Policy Institute of California, San Francisco, CA. Available from http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/jtf/JTF FuturePopulationJTF.pdfi.
- Rahel FJ, Olden JD. 2008. Assessing the effects of climate change on aquatic invasive species. Conservation Biology **22**:521–533.
- Rood SB, Samuelson GM, Braatne JH, Gourley CR, Hughes FM, Mahoney JM. 2005. Managing river flows to restore floodplain forests. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3:193–201.
- Scott ML, Skagen SK, Merigliano MF. 2003. Relating geomorphic change and grazing to avian communities in riparian forests. Conservation Biology **17**:284–296.
- Segura G, Snook LC. 1992. Stand dynamics and regeneration patterns of a pinyon pine forest in east central Mexico. Forest Ecology and Management **47**:175–194.
- Semenza JC, Herbst S, Rechenburg A, Suk JE, Höser C, Schreiber C, Kistemann T. 2012. Climate change impact assessment of food- and waterborne diseases. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology **42**:857–890.
- Skinner CN, Chang C. 1996. Fire regimes, past and present. Pages 1041–1069 Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project: Final report to Congress. Vol. II. Assessments and Scientific Basis for Management Options. Centers for Water and Wildland Resources, University of California, Davis. Available from http://www.treesearch.fs.fed.us/pubs/36570 (accessed May 3, 2016).
- Stella JC, Battles JJ, Orr BK, McBride JR. 2006. Synchrony of seed dispersal, hydrology and local climate in a semi-arid river reach in California. Ecosystems **9**:1200–1214.
- Stromberg JC, Beauchamp VB, Dixon MD, Lite SJ, Paradzick C. 2007. Importance of low-flow and high-flow characteristics to restoration of riparian vegetation along rivers in arid south-western United States. Freshwater Biology **52**:651–679.
- Stromberg JC, Wilkins SD, Tress JA. 1993. Vegetation-hydrology models: implications for management of *Prosopis velutina* (velvet mesquite) riparian ecosystems. Ecological Applications **3**:307–314.
- Toreti A, Naveau P, Zampieri M, Schindler A, Scoccimarro E, Xoplaki E, Dijkstra HA, Gualdi S, Luterbacher J. 2013. Projections of global changes in precipitation extremes from Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 models. Geophysical Research Letters **40**:4887–4892.
- Trombulak SC, Frissell CA. 2000. Review of ecological effects of roads on terrestrial and aquatic communities. Conservation Biology **14**:18–30.
- Van de Water K, North M. 2011. Stand structure, fuel loads, and fire behavior in riparian and upland forests, Sierra Nevada Mountains, USA; a comparison of current and reconstructed conditions. Forest Ecology and Management **262**:215–228.
- Vannote RL, Sweeney BW. 1980. Geographic analysis of thermal equilibria: a conceptual model for evaluating the effect of natural and modified thermal regimes on aquatic insect communities. The American Naturalist **115**:667–695.
- Vicuna S, Leonardson R, Hanemann MW, Dale LL, Dracup JA. 2008. Climate change impacts on high elevation hydropower generation in California's Sierra Nevada: a case study in the Upper American River. Climatic Change **87**:123–137.
- Vivoni ER, Aragón CA, Malczynski L, Tidwell VC. 2009. Semiarid watershed response in central New Mexico and its sensitivity to climate variability and change. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. **13**:715–733.
- Westerling AL, Bryant BP, Preisler HK, Holmes TP, Hidalgo HG, Das T, Shrestha SR. 2011. Climate change and growth scenarios for California wildfire. Climatic Change **109**:445–463.

- Williams AP, Seager R, Abatzoglou JT, Cook BI, Smerdon JE, Cook ER. 2015. Contribution of anthropogenic warming to California drought during 2012-2014. Geophysical Research Letters in press:1–10.
- Wohl E. 2012. Identifying and mitigating dam-induced declines in river health: Three case studies from the western United States. International Journal of Sediment Research **27**:271–287.
- Wohl E, Bledsoe BP, Jacobson RB, Poff NL, Rathburn SL, Walters DM, Wilcox AC. 2015. The natural sediment regime in rivers: broadening the foundation for ecosystem management. BioScience **65**:358–371.
- Yarnell SM, Petts GE, Schmidt JC, Whipple AA, Beller EE, Dahm CN, Goodwin P, Viers JH. 2015. Functional flows in modified riverscapes: hydrographs, habitats and opportunities. BioScience **65**:963–972.
- Yarnell SM, Viers JH, Mount JF. 2010. Ecology and management of the spring snowmelt recession. BioScience **60**:114–127.
- Zektser S, Loáiciga HA, Wolf JT. 2004. Environmental impacts of groundwater overdraft: selected case studies in the southwestern United States. Environmental Geology **47**:396–404.

¹ Expert opinion, Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Vulnerability Assessment